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Couple Holdco Limited

Strategic report

The directors, in preparing this Strategic Report, have complied with s414C of the Companies Act 2006.

Couple Holdco Limited (“the Company”) is the ultimate parent company of the ATCORE group, and heads
up the largest and smallest group into which the results of the Company are consolidated (“the Group”).

Principal activities

As part of an investment vehicle, Couple Holdco Limited was incorporated on 1 November 2017 with the
intention of facilitating the purchase of the share capital of ATCORE Technology Group Limited and its
subsidiaries, via a 100% investment in Couple Midco Limited. The Company was non-trading until 14
November 2017 when the acquisition was finalised.

ATCORE, the travel technology group, provides market leading reservation and distribution platforms for
the leisure travel sector. As a group ATCORE travel solutions power over £21 billion of travel bookings for
our customers and 18 million passenger journeys across the UK, Europe and North America.

The principal activity of Couple Holdco Limited is that of a holding company.

Principal risks and uncertainties

Principal risks faced by the business are a dependence on large contracts and associated payments which
can be subject to timing variability and the successful delivery. of projects within agreed timescales. These
risks are actively managed by the business to mitigate any potential adverse lmpact

Brexit continues to be a significant macro-economic issue. Given the importance of the European market
to the business, we closely monitor events and the potential impact. While the final outcome is unclear, we
do believe the business to be resilient to this exit due to nature of the services we provide, the strong
demand we continue to see from Europe and the active management and mitigation of risk by the
business.

Review of business

2019 was the first full year of operation of Couple Holdco Limited. The Group generated an operating profit
before costs on acquisition of £5.7 million in 2019, compared to the £2.7 million for the six months period
ended April 2018. Once finance and acquisition costs are deducted and investment revenue included, this
resulted in a loss before taxation of £14.3 million (2018: £6.7 million). Acquisition costs for the year
included an impairment which was recognised in the acquired customer intangibles of £2.5 million (2017:
£nil) following the post year end liquidation of Thomas Cook. The results are in line with management
expectations and reflects the ownership structure of the Group.

At the same time, we continue to invest in the business with key resources being recruited and new data
centre capability being added.

Future developments

The Company will continue to act as holding company. The future growth of the Group will be based on the
continued development of our existing customer base as well as securing new customers globally through
increase both within and outside of our core markets of the UK and Europe. A key element of this will be
the continued expansion of our already high levels of recurring revenues.

In tandem, the orgahic development of the platform to stay at the forefront of technology, while increasing
our footprint, remains core to our ongoing plans. Acquisitions may be considered to support the delivery of
this objective.

Key performance indicators

The Group uses a range of performance measures to monitor and manage the business, including order
intake, revenue, margins and cash flow.



Couple Holdco Limited

Strategic report (continued)

Going concern

After making enquiries and conslidering the principal risks and uncertainties set out above and the Group's
forecasts, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue
in operational existence for the foreseeable future. This view is based on the high level of commitment
from the existing customer base, as evidenced by the significant order backlog, combined with the
continued strong presence in the core tour reservation systems market. Accordingly, the Company
continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing its consolidated and company financial
statements.

Noel Kelly
Director

30 September 2019

353 Buckingham Avenue
Slough
SL1 4PF )

United Kingdom




Couple Holdco Limited

Directors’ report

The directors present their annual report on the affairs of the Group, together with the financial statements
and auditor’s report for the year ended 30 April 2019.

Strategic report

The information that fulfils the Companies Act requirements of the business review is included in the
strategic report. This includes a review of business, its position at the year end and future developments.

Subsequent events

Details of significant events since the balance sheet date are contained in note 32 to the financial
statements. ‘

Future developments

Details of future developments can be found in the strategic report on page 2.

Financial instruments

Information about the use of financial instruments by the Company and its subsidiaries is given in note 31
to the financial statements.

Dividends

The directors do not recommend a dividend to be paid to oidinary shareholders (2018: £nil).

Directors

The directors, who served throughout the year except as noted, were as follows:

J D Harper (resigned 15 May 2018)
GPHealy . (resigned 18 June 2018)

D'Cruickshank

N Kelly

D Bench (appointed 19 March 2019)
M Kingswood (resigned 15 May 2018)

N G Morris

DT Kelly (resigned 19 March 2019)

S Nightingale (appointed 15 May 2018)

I M Hemmers (appointed 20 July 2018)

. DBains - (appointed 31 July 2019)

Directors’ indemnities

The Company has made qualifying third party indemnity provisions for the benefit of its directors which
were made during the year and remain in force at the date of this report.

Political and charitable contributions

The Company did not make any political or charitable contributions during the year (2018: £nil).



Couple Holdco Limited

Directors’ report

Auditor
Each of the persons who is a director at the date of approval of this report confirms that:

o so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company's auditor is
not aware; and

o the director has taken all the steps that he/she ouéht to have taken as a director in order to make
himself/herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditor is
aware of that information. ’

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of Section 418 of
the Companies Act 20086.

Deloitte LLP has expressed their wiilingness to continue in office as auditor in accordance with Section 386
of the Companies Act 2006.

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on behalf of the Board

Noel Kelly
Director

30 September 2019

353 Buckingham Avenue
-Slough

SL14LN

United Kingdom




Couple Holdco Limited

Directors’ responsibilities statement

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report including the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law
the directors have elected to prepare the group financial statements in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and the parent company
financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United
Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law), including FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework”.
Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that
they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company
for that year.

In preparing the parent company financial statements, the directors are required to:
o select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
e make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and

e prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume
that the Company will continue in business.

In preparing the group financial statements, International Accounting Standard 1 requires that directors:
»  properly select and apply accounting policies;

+ present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable,
comparable and understandable information;

e provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs are
insufficient to enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and
conditions on the entity’s financial position and financial performance; and

» make an assessment of the company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to-show and
explain the company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the
Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.



Couple Holdco Limited

Independent auditor’s report to the members of Couple Holdco Limited

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion
In our opinion:

e the financial statements of Couple Holdco Limited (the ‘parent company’) and its subsidiaries (the
‘group’) give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as
at 30 April 2019 and of the group’s loss for the year then ended; '

» the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union;

« the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, including Financial Reporting Standard 101
“Reduced Disclosure Framework”; and

o the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the
Companies Act 2006. '

We have audited the financial statements which comprise:
e the consolidated income statement;

+ the consolidated balance sheet;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity;

» the consolidated cash flow statement; .

o ‘the company balance sheet;

+ the company statement of changes in equity; and

o the related notes 1 to 43.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the group financial
statements is applicable law and IFRSs as adopted by the European Union. The financial reporting
framework that has been applied in the preparation of the parent company financial statements is
applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 101
“Reduced Disclosure Framework (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor's
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report.

We are independent of the group and the parent company in accordance with the ethical requirements that
are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council's
{the ‘FRC’s’) Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.



Couple Holdco Limited

Independent auditor’s report to the members of Couple Holdco lelted
(continued)

Conclusions relating to going concern
We are required by ISAs (UK) to report in respect of the following matters where:

 the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in preparation of the financial
statements i is not appropriate; or

o the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties
that may cast significant doubt about the group's or the parent company’s ability to continue to
adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date
when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.
Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent
otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we
identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine
whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other
information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.
Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the
parent company'’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
group or the parent company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error-and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC's
website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor's report.



Couple Holdco Limited

Independent auditor’s report to the members of Couple Holdco Limited
(continued) '

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

» the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which
the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

» the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable
legal requirements.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and of the parent company and their
environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the
strategic report or the directors’ report.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under the Corhpanies Act 2006 we are required to report in respect of the following matters if, in our
opinion: '

« adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for
our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

e the parent company ﬁnanciél statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and
returns; or

+ certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
¢ we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.
We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16
of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s
membefs those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To
the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the
Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we
have formed.

Sondn Sehlren

Sandy Sullivan FCA (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP

Statutory Auditor

London

United Kingdom

30 September 2019



Couple Holdco Limited

Consolidated income statement
For the year ended 30 April 2019

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Selling expenses

Administrative expenses

Share of results of associates

Operating profit before acquisition costs

Costs on acquisition

Amortisation of intangible assets arising on acquisition
Impairment of intangible assets arising on acquisition
Operating loss

Investment revenue
Finance costs

Loss b'efore taxation
Tax

Loss for the financial year attributable to owners of
the Group

Totalicomprehensive loss for the financial year
~ attributable to owners of the Group

Note
56

10
11

12

6 month
period
2019 2018
£000 £000
25,454 11,208
(13,624) (5,903)
11,830 5,305,
(776) (562)
. (5,414) (2,104)
22 16
5,662 2,655
- (1,415)
(5,389) (2,516)
(2,539) -
(2,266) (1,276)
33 14
(12,104) (5,465)
(14,337) (6,727)
1,585 113
(12,752) (6,614)
{12,752) (6,614)

10



Couple Holdco Limited

Consolidated balance sheet
As at 30 April 2019

Non-current assets

Goodwill

Intangible assets .
Property, plant and equipment
Interests in associates
Contract assets

Current assets

Contract assets

Trade and other receivables
Corporation tax

Cash at bank and in hand

Total assets

Current liabilities
Contract liabilities .
Trade and other payables
Corporation tax
Provisions

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

Note
13
14
15

18

18
19

21
22

24

2019 2018
£000 £000
63,925 63,925
35,957 43,820
747 849
38 86
367 699
101,034- 109,379
- 2,663 1,556
5,469 5,129
272 -
4,345 3,308
12,749 9,993
113,783 119,372
(3,346) (3,351)
(2,802) (2,132)
- (220)
(30) (30)
(6.,178) (5,733)
6,571 4,260
107,605 113,639

11



Couple Holdco Limited

Consolidated balance sheet (continued)
As at 30 April 2019

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings

Provisions

Deferred tax liability

Total liabilities
Net liabilities
Equity

Share capital
. Share premium account
Accumulated deficit

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

25

27

2019 2018
£000 £000
(119,647)  (111,262)
(536) (536)
(6,500)  (8,176)
(126,683) (119,974)
(132,861) (125,707)
(19,078)  (6,335)
16 15

272 264
(19,366)  (6.614)
(19,078)  (6,335)

The financlal statements of Couple Holdco Limited (registered number 11 042500) were approved by the
board of directors and authorised for issue on 30 September 2019. They were signed on its behalf by:

Noel Kelly
Director




Couple Holdcd Limited

Consolidated statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 30 April 2019

Share
Share premium Retained

capital account earnings Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

Balance at 1 November 2017 . ' ' - - - -
Loss for the period - - (6,614) (6,614)
Issue of share capital 15 264 - 279
Balance at 30 April 2018 15 264 (6,614) (6,335)
Loss for the year ’ - - (12,752) (12,752)
Issue of share capital 1 8 - 9
Balance at 30 April 2019 16 272 (19,366) (19,078)

13



Couple Holdco Limited

Consolidated cash flow statement
For the year ended 30 April 2019

6 month

period

2019 2018

Note £000 £000

Net cash from operating activities 28 1,256 606
1,256 606

Investing activities -

Purchases of property, plant and equipment 15 (191) (278)
Purchases of intangible assets 14 (98) -
Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired - (60,012)
Director’s loan ) 33 (50) -

(339) (60,290)

Financing activities

Repayments of acquired borrowings - (42,793)
Transaction costs - (7,381)
Proceeds on the issue of shares 25, 26 9 279
Proceeds on the issue of loan notes - 20 : 41 62,887
New bank loans raised 20 - 50,000
Associate company loan repayment 17 ) 70 -
-Net cash used in financing activities 120 62,992
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,037 3,308
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 3,308 -
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 4,345 3,308

14



Couple Holdco Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements -
For the year ended 30 April 2019

1. General information

Couple Holdco Limited (the Company) is a private company limited by shares incorporated in the United
Kingdom under the Companies Act 2006 and is registered in England and Wales. The address of the
Company’s registered office is shown on page 1.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (the Group)-and the nature of the Group's
operations are set out in the strategic report on page 2.

These financial statements are presented in pounds sterling because that is the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the Group operates.

A 6 month short accounting period was used in the previous year for the first set of accounts. As such, the
amounts presented in the financial statements are not entirely comparable. -

For the year ending 30 April 2019 the following subsidiaries of the Company were entitled to exemption
from audit under s479A of the Companies Act 2006 relating to subsidiary companies.

Subsidiary Name ' Companies House Registration Number
Couple Midco Limited 11042589

" Couple Bidco Limited 11042851
ATCORE Technology Group Limited 090229805

The following dormant subsidiaries of the Company have taken advantage under s394A of the Companies
Act 2006 exemption from preparing individual accounts. These subsidiaries are exempt from the
requirement to prepare individual accounts by virtue of this section.

Subsidiary Name Companies House Registration Number
AT NEWCO 20 Limited 09042596

2.  Adoption of new and revised Standards
New and amended IFRS Standards that are effective for the current year

IFRS 9 Financial - - | IFRS 9 introduces changes relating to the recognition, classification and
Instruments measurement of financial assets and liabilities, replacing IAS 39 ‘Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement'. The standard provides new
impairment models based on expected credit losses and brings changes to
the hedging rules. )

The expected credit loss (ECL) model has been adopted when estimating
the impairment loss in relation to financial assets, and the calculated
impairment is materially in line with previous methodology. Where the
standard allows, the simplified ECL model has been utilised.

The Group does not participate in any hedging or complex derivative-based
" arrangements.

IFRS 15 Revenue from IFRS 15 establishes new requirements for recognising revenue from
Contracts with Customers | contracts with customers. The standard introduces a five-step model which,
in summary, requires entities to determine the total transaction price of the
contract and allocate that value to individual performance obligations within
the contract based on their relative stand-alone selling prices. Revenue is
then recognised as each performance obligation is satisfied, either at a
point in time (generally. for the transfer of goods) or over time (for the |.
provision of services). ’

15



Couple Holdco Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 30 April 2019

2. Adoption of new and revised Standards (continued)

The adoption of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers has
had no material impact on the Group.

IFRS 15 uses the terms 'contract asset' and ‘contract liability’ to describe what might more commonly be
known as 'accrued revenue’ and ‘deferred revenue’, however, the Standard does not prohibit an entity from
using alternative descriptions in the statement of financial position. The Group has adopted the terminology
used in IFRS 15 to describe such balances.

In the current year, the Group has applied a number of amendments to IFRSs issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) that are mandatorily effective for an accounting period that begins on
or after 1 January 2018. Their adoption has not had any material impact on the disclosures or on the
amounts reported in these financial statements.

IFRS 2 (amendments) The Group has adopted the amendments to IFRS 2 for the first time in the
Classification and current year. The amendments clarify the following: .

Measurement of Share- (1) In estimating the fair value of a cash-settled share-based payment,
based Payment the accounting for the effects of vesting and non-vesting conditions
Transactions should follow the same approach as for equity-settled share-based
payments.

(2) Where tax law or regulation- requires an entity to withhold a
specified number of equity instruments equal to the monetary value
of the employee’s tax obligation to meet the employee’s tax liability
which is then remitted to the tax authority (typically in cash), i.e. the
share-based payment arrangement has a ‘net settlement feature’,
such an arrangement should be classified as equity-settled in its
entirety, provided that the share-based payment would have been
classified as equity-settied had it not included the net settlement
feature. :

(3) A modification of a share-based payment that changes the
transaction from cash-settled to equity-settled should be
accounted for as follows:

i) the original liability is derecognised; :
ii) the equity-settled share-based payment is recognised at the
modification date fair value of the equity instrument granted

to the extent that services have been rendered up to the
modification date; and

any difference between the carrying amount of the liability at the
modification date and the amount recognised in equity should be
recognised in the income statement immediately.

IAS 40 (amendments) The Group has adopted the amendments to IAS 40 Investment Property
Transfers of Investment for the first time in the current year. The amendments clarify that a transfer
Property to, or from, investment property necessitates an assessment of whether a

: property meets, or has ceased to meet, the definition of investment
| property, supported by observable evidence that a change in use has
occurred. The amendments further clarify that the situations listed in 1AS
40 are not exhaustive and that a change in use is possible for properties
under construction (i.e. a change in use is not limited to completed
properties). :

16



Couple Holdco Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

For the year ended 30

April 2019

2. Adoptidn of new and revised Standards (continued)

Annual Improvements to
IFRS Standards 2014 -
2016 Cycle

Amendments to IAS 28
Investments in Associates
and Joint Ventures

-associate or joint venture, and that election should be made at initial

The Group has adopted the amendments to IAS 28 included in the Annual
Improvements to IFRS Standards 2014-2016 Cycle for the first time in the
current year. The amendments clarify that the option for a venture capital
organisation and other similar entites to measure investments in
associates and joint ventures at FVTPL is available separately for each

recognition.

In respect of the option for an entity that is not an investment entity (IE) to
retain the fair value measurement applied by its associates and joint
ventures that-are |Es when applying the equity method, the amendments
make a similar clarification that this choice is available for each |E associate
or IE joint venture.

IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency
Transactions and Advance
Consideration

'| a non-refundable deposit or deferred revenue).

IFRIC 22 addresses how to determine the ‘date of transaction’ for the
purpose of determining the exchange rate to use on initial recognition of an
asset, expense or income, when consideration for that item has been paid
or received in advance in a foreign currency which resulted in the
recognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability (for example,

The Interpretation specifies that the date of transaction is the date on which
the entity initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary
liability arising from the payment or receipt of advance consideration. If
there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Interpretation
requires an entity to determine the date of transaction for each payment or
receipt of advance consideration.

New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the Group has not applied the following new and
revised IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective and in some cases had not yet been adopted

by the EU:

IFRS 16
IFRS 17
Amendments to [IFRS 9
Amendments to IAS 28

Annual Improvements to
IFRS Standards 2015 -
2017 Cycle

IFRS 10 and IAS 28
(amendments)

IFRIC 23

Leases

Insurance Contracts

Prepayment _Features with Negative Compensation
Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures

Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations, IFRS 11 Joint
Arrangements, IAS 12 Income Taxes and IAS 23 Borrowing Costs

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture
Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

17



Couple Holdco Limited-

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 April 2019

2, Adoption of new and revised Standards (continued)

The directors do not expect that the adoption of the Standards listed above will have a material impact on
the financial statements of the Group in future years, except as noted below:

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16, which was endorsed by the EU on 9 November 2017, provides a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and their treatment in the financial statements for both lessors and
lessees. IFRS 16 will supersede the current lease guidance including IAS 17 Leases and the related
Interpretations when it becomes effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The
date of initial application of IFRS 16 for the Group will be 1 January 2019.

IFRS 16 distinguishes leases and service contracts on the basis of whether an identified asset is controlled
by a customer. Distinctions of operating leases (off balance sheet) and finance leases (on balance sheet)
are removed for lessee accounting, and is replaced by a model where a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability have to be recognised for all leases by lessees (i.e. all on balance sheet) except for
short-term leases and leases of low value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain
exceptions) less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of the
lease liability. The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are
not paid at that date. Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for interest and lease payments, as well
as the impact of lease modifications, amongst others. Furthermore, the classification of cash flows will also
be affected because operating lease payments under IAS 17 are presented as operating cash flows;
whereas under the IFRS 16 model, the lease payments will be split into a principal and an interest portion
which will be presented as financing and operating cash flows respectively.

In contrast to lessee accounting, IFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements
in IAS 17, and continues to require a lessor to classify a lease either as an operating lease or a finance
lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by IFRS 16.

As at 30 April 2019, the Group has non-cancellable operating lease commitments of £3.2 million. 1AS 17
does not require the recognition of any right-of-use asset or liability for future payments for these leases;
instead, certain information is disclosed as operating lease commitments in note 29. A preliminary
assessment indicates that these arrangements will meet the definition of a lease under IFRS 16, and
hence the Group will recognise a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability in respect of all these
leases unless they qualify for low value or short-term leases upon the application of IFRS 16.

The latest assessment of the impact of IFRS 16 Leases (effective for periods beginning on or after 1 -
January 2019) revealed that, when adopted based on the operating leases at the reporting date, fixed
assets and lease obligations of around £2.9 million would be recognised on the consolidated balance sheet
with no material impact on operating profit.

18



Couple Holdco Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 April 2019

3. Significant accounting policies

Basis of accounting

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs). The financial statements have also been prepared in accordance with I[FRSs adopted
by the European Union and therefore the Group financial statements comply with Article 4 of the EU IAS
Regulation.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the revaluation of
financial instruments that are measured at revalued amounts or fair values at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in the accounting policies below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset
or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements is
determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of
IFRS 2, leasing transactions that are within the scope of IAS 17, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in IAS 2 or value in use in IAS
36.

The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below.

Going concern

The directors have undertaken a detailed assessment on going concern. This assessment included
specific consideration of the post year end liquidation of Thomas Cook which was a significant recurring
customer of the Group. In addition, typical of this form of investment structure, the loan notes in issue are
not due to be redeemed in the near future and the associated interest is not assumed to be paid in the"
interim. :

Having conducted this review, the directors have, at the time of approving the financial statements, a
reasonable expectation that the Company and the Group have adequate resources to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting in preparing the financial statements.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries) made up to 30 April each year. Control is achieved when the
Company:

¢ has power over the investee;
e is exposed, or has rights, to variable return from its involvement with the investee; and
¢ has the ability to use its power to affects its returns.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it considers that it has
power over the investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether or not the Company'’s voting rights in an investee are suff cient to give it power,
including:

o the size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of
the other vote holders;

o potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties;
¢ rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

¢ any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not havé, the
current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including
voting patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases
when the Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, the results of subsidiaries acquired or.
disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated income statement from the date the Company
gains control until the date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehenswe income are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of the subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controllmg interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting
policies used into line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between the members of the Group are eliminated on consolidation.

Business combinations

Acquisitions- of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The
consideration transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the
sum of the acquisition-date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group
to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interest issued by the Group in exchange for control of
the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in the income statement as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets adquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their
fair value at the acquisition date, except that:

e deferred tax assets or liabilities and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with IAS 12 Income 1axés and iAS 19 Employee
Benefits respectively; and .

e assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that
Standard.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held interest in the
acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in the income statement as a bargain purchase
gain.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes asset or liability
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its
acquisition-date fair value and included as part of the consideration transferred in a business combination.
Changes in fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are
adjusted retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments against goodwill. Measurement period
adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during the ‘measurement
period’ (which cannot exceed one year from the acqunsmon date) about facts and circumstances that
existed at the acquisition date.

Goodwill
Goodwill is initially recognised and measured as set out above.

Goodwill is not amortised but is reviewed for impairment at least annually. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are tested for
impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the
other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent year.

On disposal of a cash generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination
of the profit or loss on disposal.

The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an associate is described below.

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor
an interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these financial statements using the
equity method of accounting, except when the investment is classified as held for sale, in which case it is
accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Under the equity method, an investment in an associate is initially recognised in the consolidated balance
sheet at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the associate. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds the
Group's interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of
the Group's net investment in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further -
losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.
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" An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess of the cost of
the investment over the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any
excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the
investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in the income statement in the year in which
the investment is acquired.

The requirements of IAS 36 are applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment
loss with respect to the Group’s investment in an associate. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of
the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 Impairment of
Assets as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount, Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with IAS 36 to
the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the date when the investment ceases to be an
associate, or when the investment is classified as held for sale. When the Group retains an interest in the
former associate and the retained interest is a financial asset, the Group measures the retained interest at
fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition in accordance with
IAS 39. The difference between the carrying amount of the associate at the date the equity method was
discontinued, and the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing of a part interest
in the associate is included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate. In addition,
the Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to
that associate on the same basis as would be required if that associate had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income by
that associate would be reclassified to the income statement on the disposal of the related assets or
liabilities,. the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to the income statement (as a reclassification
adjustment) when the equity method is discontinued.

. When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to the income statement the proportion of the gain or loss that had
previously been recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership interest
if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate are recognised in the Group's consolidated financial statements only to the
extent of interests in the associate that are not related to the Group.

Revenue recognition
The Group recognises revenue from the following major sources:
e own product software licences;
¢ mantime (services, systems integration and implementation of software products);
« software maintenance and support;
e 'managed services; and
e sale of third party products and services

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in a contract
with a customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Group recognises revenue
when it transfers control of a product or service to a customer.
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. Own product software licences

Revenue from sale of perpetual software licences, which provide the customer with the right to use the
Group's software platforms, is generally recognised upon delivery to the customer. Term licences are
provided alongside other services (for example hosting and support), the revenue for which is bundled and
recognised over the term of the agreement.

Mantime (services, systems integration and implementation of software products)

Mantime services are recognised as a performance obligation satisfied over time. Revenue is recognised
for these services based on the stage of completion of the contract. The directors have assessed that the
stage of completion determined as the proportion of the total time expected that has elapsed at the end of
the reporting period is an appropriate measure of progress towards complete satisfaction of these
performance obligations under IFRS 15. While payment for mantime services is not due from the
customer, a contract asset is recognised over the period in which the services are performed representing
the entity’'s right to consideration for the services performed to date. Excess payments are included in trade
and other payables as payments on account.

Software maintenance and support

Software maintenance and support revenue is recognised from the date support services are provided
(delivery of the related licence). Between the date of delivery and the “go-live” date, generally being the
date the software is operational and accepted by the customer, 5% of post go-live support fees are
recognised rateably. This percentage is based on the level of support effort required in this period. Where
support cannot contractually be charged until go-live, the contractual support fee is diluted to address this
fair value adjustment. Following go-live, support fees are recognised on a straight-line basis over the life of
the related agreement, taking into account any free maintenance periods.

Managed services

Managed services revenue is recognised over the life of the contract. Costs incurred on a contract from
third parties, which are directly related to the contract, are capitalised and recognised over the life of the
contract. Contract profitability is regularly reviewed and if necessary provision for any forecast loss arising
is made. Sales, operational and administrative costs are written off as incurred.

Sale of third party products and services

Revenue recognition from the sale of third party products and services reflects the nature of the product
sold. Where the product sold is hardware or a perpetual software licence, the revenue and the cost is
recognised at the time of the transaction. Where the product sold is software or hardware maintenance and
suppont, if the revenue value is material, (i.e. greater than £60k per annum) then the revenue and cost is
recognised on a straight-line basis over the life of the agreement. Where the revenue is less than £60k per
annum, both the revenue and the cost of the agreement is recognised in full at the time of the transaction.
Revenue and cost recognised this manner is monitored on an annual basis to ensure the financial impact
of this accelerated recognition compared to the straight-line approach is not material.
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Leases

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over
the term of the relevant lease except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time
pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under
operating leases are recognised as an expense in the year in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are
recognised as a liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another systematic basis is more representative
of the time pattern in which economic benef ts from the leased asset are consumed.

Foreign currencies

The individual financial statements of each group company are presented in the currency of the primary
economic environment in which it operates (its functional currency). For the purpose of the consolidated
_ financial statements, the results and financial position of each group company are expressed in sterling,
which is the functional currency of the Company, and the presentation currency for the consolidated
financial statements.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's
foreign operations are translated at exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Income and
expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during that year, in which case the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in a
separate component of equity (attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

Exchange differences are recognised in the income statement in the year in which they arise.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets,
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or
sale, are added to the initial cost of those assets.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement in the year in which they are incurred.

Operating profit (before and after acquisition costs)

Operating profit is stated after charging restructuring costs but before investment income and finance
costs.

The Directors believe that the operating profit before acquisition costs and the amortisation of intengible
assets arising on acquisition better represents the underlying trading performance of the Group as it is a
more accurate reflection of the operating performance of the business.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes are charged as an expense as they fall due.
Payments made to state-managed retirement benefit schemes are dealt with as payments to defined
contribution schemes where the Company's obligations under the schemes are equivalent to those arising
in a defined contribution retirement benefit scheme.
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Taxation
The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.
Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as
reported in the income statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Company’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date.

A provision is recognised for those matters for which the tax determination is uncertain but it is considered
probable that there will be a future outflow of funds to a tax authority. The provisions are measured at the
best estimate of the amount expected to become payable. The assessment is based on the judgement of
tax professionals within the Company supported by previous experience in respect of such activities and in
certain cases based on specialist independent tax advice.

_Deferred tax

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the liability is settled
or the asset is realised based on tax laws and rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow
from the manner in which the Company expects, at the end of the reportlng period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. :

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority and the Company intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current tax and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in the income statement, except when they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax
are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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Property, plant and equipment

Leasehold improvements, and fixtures and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation
and any recognised impairment loss.

Fixtures and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any recognised impairment
loss.

Depreciation is provided on all tangible fixed assets, at rates calculated to write off the cost over their
estimated useful lives, on a straight-line basis, as follows:

Leasehold improvements Length of lease
Fixtures and equipment 25%-33% per annum

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. The gain or loss arising on the disposal
or scrappage of an asset is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in income.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses.

Internally-generated intangible assets — research and development expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the year in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from the Company's internal software development (or
from the development phase of an internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the following
conditions have been demonstrated:

e the technical feasibility of completing trte intangible assets so that it will be available for use or sale;
e the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

o the ability to-use or sell the intangible asset;

e how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;

+ the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and
to use or sell the intangible assets; and

» the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its
development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure
incurred from the date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above. Where no
internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is recognised in the
income statement in the year in which it is incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated
intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses
on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.
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Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets ‘acquired in a business combination and recognised separately from goodwill are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recbgnition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported at cost
less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible
assets that are acquired separately.

Derecognition of intangible assets .

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from
use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in the
income statement when the asset is derecognised.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets excluding goodwill

At each balance sheet date, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated
to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the asset does not generate cash flows that
are independent from other assets, the Company estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.

An intangible asset with an indefinite useful life is tested for impairment at least annually and whenever
there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than,its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in the income statement, unless the relevant asset is carried
at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating
unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in the income statement, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount,
in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Company’s balance sheet when the
Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial
assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised immediately in the income statement.
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Financial assets

All financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. All recognised financial assets
are measured subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the
classification of the financial assets.

Classification of financial assets
Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at amortised cost:

« the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

By default, all other financial assets are measured subsequently at fair value through profit or loss
(FVTPL).

i) Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of
allocating interest income over the relevant period.

For financial assets other than purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets (i.e. assets that are
credit-impaired on initial recognition), the effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) excluding expected credit losses, through
the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying
amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition. For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial
assets, a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is calculated by discounting the estimated future cash flows,
including expected credit losses, to the amortised cost of the debt instrument on initial recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest
method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss
allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a financial asset before
adjusting for any loss allowance.

i) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost are measured ét
FVTPL. Specifically: :

+ Investments in equity instruments are classified as at FVTPL.

o Debt instruments that do not meet the amortised cost are classified as at FVTPL. In addition, debt
instruments that meet the amortised cost criteria may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial
recognition if such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition
inconsistency (so called ‘accounting mismatch’) that would arise from measuring assets or
liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on them on different bases. The Group has not
designated any debt instruments as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any fair
value gains or losses recognised in the income statement to the extent they are not part of a designated
hedging relationship. The net gain or loss recognised in the income statement includes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial asset.
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Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that
foreign currency and translated at the spot rate at the end of each reporting period. Specifically for financial
assets measured at amortised cost or FVTPL, exchange differences are recognised in the income
statement. : ‘

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on investments in debt instruments that
are measured at amortised cost, lease receivables, trade receivables and contract assets. The amount of
expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables, contract assets and lease receivables.

The expected credit losses on these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the
* Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions
at the reporting date, including time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

" Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible. default events over the
‘expected life of a financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date.

i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. Forward-looking information considered includes the future
prospects of the industries in which the Group's debtors operate, obtained from economic expert reports,
financial analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and other similar organisations, as well as
consideration of various external sources of actual and forecast economic information that relate to the
Group's core operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

+ significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk for a particular financial
instrument, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the
debtor, or the length of time or the extent to which the fair value of a financial asset has been less
than its amortised cost;

» existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor;
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« significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same debtor; and

¢ an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, econemic, or technblogical
environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations. '

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk on a
financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument Has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(1) the financial instrument has a low risk of default;
(2) the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; and

(3) adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations..

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
- significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

ii) Definition of default

The Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.

iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event (see (ii) above);

{c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider, :

(d) itis becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or
(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.
iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group's recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in the income statement.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)
v) Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e.
the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information as described above. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented by
the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date; for financial guarantee contracts, the exposure
includes the amount drawn down as at the reporting date, together with any additional amounts expected
to be drawn down in the future by default date determined based on historical trend, the Group'’s
understanding of the specific future financing needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward-looking
information.

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate. For a lease receivable, the cash flows
used for determining the expected credit losses is consistent with the cash flows used in measuring the
lease receivable in accordance with 1AS 17 Leases.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL
in the previous reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime
ECL are no longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at
the current reporting date, except for assets for which simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in the income statement for all financial instruments with
a corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of a financial asset

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another entity. If the'Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in
the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset's
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in the income
statement.

~ Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company's-own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No
gain or loss is recognised in the income statement on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the
Company's own equity instruments.
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Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method or
at FVTPL. :

However, financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial asset does not qualify for
derecognition or when the continuing involvement approach applies, and financial guarantee contracts
issued by the Group, are measured in accordance with the specific accounting policies set out below.

i) Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial liability is (i) contingent consideration of
an acquirer in a business combination, (ii) held for trading or (iii) it is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:
* ithas been acquired principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in the near term; or

 oninitial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

» itis a derivative, except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee. contract or a designated and
effective hedging instrument.

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading or contingent consideration of an acquirer
in a business combination may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

¢ such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recogmtlon inconsistency
that would otherwise arise; or .

o the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is
managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group's
documented risk management or investment strategy, and information about the grouping is
provided internally on that basis; or

o it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and IFRS 9 permits the
entire combined contract to be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on changes in fair
value recognised in profit.

However, for financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL, the amount of change in the fair value of
the financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is recognised in other
comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other
comprehensive income would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in the income statement. The
remaining-amount of change in the fair value of liability is recognised in the income statement. Changes in
fair value attributable to a financial liability’s credit risk that are recognised in other comprehensive income
are not subsequently reclassified to the income statement; instead, they are transferred to retained
earnings upon derecognition of the financial liability.

iij) Financial liabilities measured subsequently at amortised cost

Financial liabilities that do not meet the criteria for being measured at FVTPL are measured subsequently
at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or
(where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability.
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Foreign exchange gains and losses

For financial liabilities that are denominated in a foreign currency and are measured at amortised cost at
the end of each reporting period, the foreign exchange gains and losses are determined based on the
amortised cost of the instruments and are recognised in the income statement.

The fair value of financial liabilities denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency
and translated at the spot rate at the end of the reporting period. For financial liabilities that are measured
as at FVTPL, the forelgn exchange component forms part of the fair value gains or losses and is
recognised in the income statement.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in the income statement.

When the Group exchanges with the existing lender one debt instrument into another one with the
substantially different terms, such exchange is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial
liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. Similarly, the Group accounts for substantial
modification of terms of an existing liability or part of it as an extinguishment of the original financial liability
and the recognition of a new liability. It is assumed that the terms are substantially different if the
discounted present value of the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees
received and discounted using the original effective rate is at least 10 per cent different from the
discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial fiability. If the modification is
not substantial, the difference between: (1) the carrying amount of the liability before the modification; and
(2) the present value of the cash flows after modification should be recognised in the income statement as
the modification gain or loss within other gains and losses.

Derivative financial instruments

The Group enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate
and foreign exchange rate risks, including foreign exchange forward contracts and interest rate caps.
Further details of derivative financial instruments are disclosed in note 31.

Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entéred into and are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at each reporting date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised
in the income statement.

A derivative with a positive fair value is recognised as a financial asset whereas a derivative with a
negative fair value is recognised as a financial liability.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of
a past event, it is probable that the Company will be required to settle that obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of thé obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the balance sheet date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding
the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carnying amount is the present value of those cash flows (when the effect of the time value of
money is material).
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When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision a're expected to be recovered from
a third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be
received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Property provisions

Property provisions are established on a property-by-property basis to meet the estimated liabilities,
including dilapidations, of all properties surplus to the requirements of the business. The provision covers
all ongoing unavoidable costs net of rental income.

Any dilapidation costs are expensed directly to income statement. Provisions are not recognised for future
operating losses.

4, Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

in the application of the Company's accounting policies, which are described in note 3, the directors are
required to make judgements (other than those involving estimations) that have a significant impact on the
amounts recognised and to make estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual resuits may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the year in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that year or
- in the year of the revision and future years if the revision affects both current and future years.

Critical judgements in applying the Company's accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (which are dealt with
separately below), that the directors have made in the process of applying the Company’s accounting
policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in financial statements.

"Revenue recognition on mantime contracts in progress

The revenue and profit of fixed price contracts is recognised on a percentage-of-completion basis when the
outcome of a contract can be estimated reliably. Management exercises judgement in determining
whether a contract's outcome can be estimated reliably. Management also makes estimates of the total
cost of professional services, or in some instances total contract costs, which are used in determining the
value of amounts recoverable on contracts and any related provisions required for onerous contracts.
Estimates are continually revised based on changes in the facts relating to each contract.

Goodwill impairment

The determination of whether or not goodwull has been impaired requires an estimate to be made of the
value in use of the cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation
includes estimates about the future financial performance of the cash-generating unit, including
management’s estimates of long-term operating margins and discount rates. Further information regarding
the assumptions can be found in note 13. The directors consider this to be a key area of estimation
uncertainty in the preparation of the accounts.
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5. Revenue

The Group derives its revenue from contracts with customers for the transfer of goods and seNices over
time and at a point in time in the following major categories:

6 month
period
2019 2018
£000 £000

Disaggregation of revenue )
Own product software licences 2,345 679
Mantime (services, systems integration and implementation of software products) 8,291 3,957
Software maintenance and support 7,742 3,437
Managed services 5,422 2,499

Sale of third party products and services 1,654 636
Other - -

25,454 11,208

As permitted under the transitional provisions in IFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to partially
unsatisfied performance obligations as of 30 April 2018 is not disclosed.

6. Operating segments
Management believe that the Group has a single operating segment.

Geographical information

The business operates from the United Kingdom but makes sales to two principal geographic areas with
further sales to a third geographic area, as set out below. All of the Group’s assets are held in the United
Kingdom.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue by geographical market is set out below.

6 month
. period
2019 2018
£000 £000

Revenue:
United Kingdom 16,091 7,449
Europe 7,628 3,277
Rest of the World 1,735 482

. 25454 11,208

Information about major customers |
Included in the Group's revenues are revenues of approximately £7.1 million (2018: £6.1 million) which

arose from sales to the Group's largest two customers. No other single customers contributed 10% or
more to the Group's revenue in the year.
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7. Loss for the year
Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging:

6 month

period

2019 2018

£000 £000

Net foreign exchange losses 27 23
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (see note 15) 353 171
Amortisation of intangible assets (see note 14) 83 40
Impairment of intangible assets (see note 14) 2,539 -
Amortisation of acquired intangible assets arising on acquisition (see note 14) 5,389 2,516
Staff costs (see note 9) 13,453 5,940
Operating lease rentals (see note 29) 499 231

Amortisation of intangible assets are included in cost of sales. The amortisation of acquired intangible
assets arising on acquisition is presented as a separate line on the consolidated income statement.

8. Auditor’s remuneration

The analysis of the auditor's remuneration is as follows:

2019 2018
£000 £000
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and their associates for
the audit of the Company’s annual accounts : 25 44
Fees payéble to the Company’s auditor and their associates for
other services to the Group
The audit of the Company's subsidiaries 60 61
Total audit fees . o 85 105
* Taxation compliance services .15 15
Taxation advisory services 12 12

Total non-audit fees 27 27
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9. Staff costs
The average monthly number of employees (including executive directors) was:

6 month
period
2019 - 2018
‘ Number  Number
Technical . 167 166
Administration 22 22
Selling 6 6
195 194
Their aggregate remuneration comprised:
' ’ 6 month
period
2019 2018
£000 £000
Wages and salaries . 11,710 5,200
Social security costs 1,255 557
Other pension costs (see note 30) 488 183
13,453 5,940
10. Investment revenue
6 month
period
2019 2018
£000 £000
Interest receivable:
Bank deposits 33 14
Total interest receivable : 33 14
11. Finance costs
6 month
period
2019 2018
£000 £000
Interest on bank loans _ 4,093 1,816
interest on loan notes 8,011 3,557
Total interest expense 12,104 5,373
Interest rate cap fees - 92
12,104 5,465
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12. Tax
6 month
period
2019 2018
£000 £000
Corporation tax:
UK corporation tax : 391 393
Adjustment in respect of prior years ~ (299) -
92 393
Deferred tax: (note 23) ,
Current year (1,019) (631)
Adjustment in respect or prior years 6 -
Changes in tax rates (664) 25
(1,585) (113)
Corporation tax is calculated at 19% of the estimated taxable profit for the year.
The credit for the year can be reconciled to the loss in the income statement as follows:
6 month
period
2019 2018
£000 £000
Loss before tax (14,337) - (6,727)
Tax at the UK corporation tax réte of 19% (2018 19%) (2,724) (1,278)
Adjustment in respect of prior years (293) -
Change in the UK corporation tax rate . (664) (137)
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable profit 1,509 1,340
Amounts not recognised _ : 596 -
Other | (9) (38)
Tax credit for the year (1,585) (113)
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13. Goodwill

> £000
Cost
At 1 November 2017 : -
Recognised on acquisition of a subsidiary 63,925
At 30 April 2018 ‘ . 63,925
At 30 April 2019 , . 63,925
Accumulated impairment losses
At 1 November 2017 -
At 30 April 2018 . -
At 30 April 2019 -
Carrying amount .
At 30 April 2019 . 63,925
At 30 April 2018 ) 63,925

The Company tests goodwill annually for impairment, or more frequently if there are indications that
goodwill might be impaired.

The recoverable amount is determined from a value in use calculation. The key assumptions for this
calculation are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates and expected changes to selling prices
and direct costs during the year. These assumptions have been revised in the year in light of the current
economic environment which has resulted in more conservative estimates about the future. Management
estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the Company.

The Company has conducted a sensitivity analysis on the impairment test. An increase in the discount rate
of 4.1% would cause the carrying value of goodwill to equal its recoverable amount.

The Company prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial budgets approved by
management for the next five years, with no long term growth rate in perpetuity. Management are sensitive
to the technology risk within the software industry and do not deem it appropriate to forecast growth for
products more than five years into the future.

The rate used to discount the forecast cash flows is 12%. This is based on the weighted average cost of
capital (WACC) for the group as adjusted for risk.
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14. Intangible assets

Acquired » Acquired
Development Software - technology customer

costs licences intangibles intangibles Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Cost
At 1 November 2017 - - - - -
Acquired on acquisition of a

subsidiary - 123 12,597 33,404 46,124

Additions from purchases - 116 - - 116.
Additions from internal development 136 - - - 136
At 30 April 2018 136 239 12,597 33,404 46,376
Additions from purchases - 68 - - 68
Additions from interna! development 80 - - - 80
At 30 April 2019 216 307 12,597 33,404 46,524
Amortisation and impairment
At 1 November 2017 - - - - -
Charge for the period - 40 392 2,124 2,556
At 30 April 2018 - 40 392 2,124 2,556
Charge for the year 11 71 840 4,549 5,472
Impairment loss - - Ce 2,539 2,539
At 30 April 2019 11 112 . 1,232 9,212 10,567
Carrying amou.nt .
At 30 April 2019 205 195 11,365 24192 35,957
At 30 April 20i 8 ‘ 136 199 12,205 31,280 43,820

The amortisation period for development costs incurred on the Company's internal software development is

5 years. Amortisation for one of the two projects commenced in September 2018.

Development costs have been capitalised in accordance with IAS 38 Intangible Assets and are therefore not

treated, for dividend purposes, as a realised loss.

Software licences are amortised over their estimated useful lives, which is on average 2 to 3 years.

Acquired technology intangibles are amortised over a period of 15 years. Acquired customer intangibles are

amortised over 5 or 10 years.

The impairment loss in the acquired customer intangibles was. recognised following the post year end

liquidation of Thomas Cook.
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15. Property, plant and equipment

Cost

At 1 November 2017 -

Acquired on acquisition of a subsidiary
Additions

At 30 April 2018

Additions
Disposals

At 30 April 2019

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 November 2017

Charge for the period

At 30 April 2018

Charge for the year

At 30 April 2019

Carrying amount
At 30 April 2019

At 30 April 2018

16. -Subsidiaries

Fixtures

Leasehold and _
improvements equipment Total
£000 £000 £000

579 259 838

18 164 . 182

- 597 423 1,020

6 245 251

603 668 1,271

72 99 171

72 99 171

154 199 353

226 298 524

377 370 747

525 324 849

The Group consists of a parent company, Couple Holdco Limited, incorporated in the United Kingdom and
a number of subsidiaries and associates held directly and indirectly by Couple Holdco Limited, which
operate and are incorporated around the world. Note 37 to the Company’s separate financial statements

lists details of the interests in sub;idiaries.
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17. Interests in associates

Cost
At 1 May 2017
Additions

At 30 April 2018
Additions
Repayment

At 30 April 2019

Details of the Company’s associates at 30 April 2018 are as follows:

Name -

Accordion
Technology
Limited

Accordion
Technology
Private Limited

Accordion
Technology
(Canada)
Limited

Address

353 Buckingham
Avenue, Slough
SL1 4PF. United
Kingdom.

Unit No. 302,
Hi-Tech Pearl,
Shilpi Valley,
Gafoor. Nagari
Madhapur,
Sirilingampally
Mandal,
Rangareddi,
Hyderabad.
Telangana
500081. India.

1175-1212
Douglas Street,
Victoria, British
Columbia, V81
2E1. Canada.

Place of
Incorporation

United

Kingdom

India

Canada

Proportion
of ownership
of ordinary
share capital

40%

40%

40%

No interests in associates are held directly by Couple Holdco Limited.

Proportion
of voting
power held

40%

40%

40%

Associates
£000

70 .
16

86
22
(70)

38

Principal Activity

Provision of

software and
services to the
leisure travel
sector

Provision of
software and
services to the
leisure travel
sector

Provision of
software and

services to the

leisure travel
sector -
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18. Contract assets

2019 2018

£000 £000

Own product software licences 1,525 1,022

Mantime (services, systems integration and implementation of software products) 250 122

Software maintenance and support ) . 943 1,073

Sale of third party products and services 312 8

3,030 2,225

Included in current assets 2,663 1,556

_Included in non-current assets . 367 669

Contract assets arise when the Group has satisfied performance obligations in its contracts with customers
but is not yet entitled to payment per the agreed invoicing schedule. Any amount previously recognised as
a contract asset is reclassified to trade receivables at the point at which it is invoiced to the customer.

19. Trade and other receivables

2019 2018

£000 £000
Trade receivables 4,655 4,164
Loss allowance (2) (26)
Other receivables : ‘ 74 5
Prepayments ) 742 . 986

5,469 5,129

Trade receivables

The average credit period on sales of goods is 56 days (2018: 57 days). No interest is charged on
outstanding trade receivables.

The Group always measures the loss allowance for trade receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECL.
The expected credit losses on trade receivables are estimated using a provision matrix by reference to
past default experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s current financial position, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors
operate and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the
reporting date. The Group has recognised a loss allowance of 100% against all receivables over 120 days
formal indication of recovery from the customer, because historical experience has indicated that these
receivables are generally not recoverable. There has been no change in the estimation techniques or
significant assumptions made during the current reporting period. .

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed
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under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. None of the trade receivables that have

been written off is subject to enforcement activities.

19. Trade and other receivables (continued)

Amount receivable not past due

- Amount receivable past due but not impaired

"~ Amount receivable impaired (gross)
Less impairment

Amounts falling due within one year:

Ageing of past due but not impaired trade receivables

31-60 days
61-90 days
91-120 days

Total

Movement in the loss allowance

Balance at the beginning of the year
Impairment losses recognised

Balance at the end of the year

Ageing of impaired trade receivables

61-90 days
91-120 days
121+ days

Total

2019 2018
£000 £000
2,209 2,026
2,446 2138
(2) (26)
4,653 4,138
2019 2018
£000 £000
1,778 1,620
494 392
174 126
2,446 2,138
2019 2018
£000 £000
26 -
(24) 26

2 26
2019 2018
£000 £000
2 26

2 26

The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables is approximately equal to

their fair value.

44



Couple Holdco Limited

thes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 April 2019

20. 'Borrowings
2019 2018
£000 £000
Unsecured borrowing at amortised cost :
Loan notes subscribed by management 5,501 4,890
Loan notes subscribed by Infiexion Private Equity 48,177 43,713 -
Loan notes subscribed by Lloyds Development Capital 20,597 17,805
Bank loan 50,796 50,748
Deferred finance costs (5,424) (5,894)
Total borrowings 119,647 111,262
Amount due for settlement within 12 months : - -
Amount due for settlement after 12 months ) 119,647 111,262

All borrowings are denominated in sterling.

The other principal features of the Group's borrowings are as follows:

i)

Loan notes

On 14 November 2017, a “Triple Newco” company structure was created to facilitate the
purchase of ATCORE Technology Group Limited and its subsidiaries. At this time,-Couple Midco
Limited issued loan notes totalling £58,319,115 to Inflexion Private Equity. The loan notes
subsequently listed on The International Stock Exchange (“TISE”) at face value on 16 May 2018.

The loan notes comprise £58,319,115 Fixed rate Subordinated Guaranteed Secured series A
Loan Notes with a 7 year termi maturing in November 2024,

At the time of the acquisition of ATCORE Technology Group Ltd, Lioyds Development Capital
(LDC) were granted an option to invest in the business. On 28 March this option was exercised
and LDC acquired £17,445,889 of B Loan notes from Inflexion Private Equity.

In addition, Management and employees have invested £4,633,292 in B Loan Notes issued by
Couple Holdco Limited which mature on 13 November 2024. Further investment of £40,909 was
made by the management during the year. -

The above loans include accrued interest charged at 12%.
Bank loan

On 14 November 2017, the Company entered into a new loan facility agreement and raised
£50m from Alcentra Capital. The new loan facility comprised a Facility B term Loan of £60m
with a 7 year term, maturing 13 November 2024.

At the same time, Couple Holdco Limited entered into a revolving credit facility of £4m with
HSBC. This has not been drawn-down in the year.

The weighted average interest rates paid during the year were as follows:

2019 2018
% %

Unsecured borrowing at amortised cost
Loan notes 12.0 12.0
Bank loans 7.6 7.2
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21. Contract liabilities

2019 2018

£000 £000
Amounts received in advance ' 3,346 3,351
Included in current liabilities . 3,346 3,351 .

Included in non-current liabilities - =

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in the current reporting period relates to
brought-forward contract liabilities. There was no revenue recognised in the current reporting perlod that
related to performance obligations that were satisfied in a prior year.

2019 2018

£000 £000

Revenue relating to brought-forward contract liabilities 2,976 .-
22. Trade and other payables .

' 2019 2018

£000 £000

Trade payables ' ’ 676 - 546

Other taxation and social security 1,079 598

Other payables : 105 158

Accruals 942 830

Amounts falling due within one year: o 2,802 2,132

Trade payables and accruals principally comprise amounts outstandlng for trade purchases and ongoing
costs. The average credit period taken for trade purchases is 38 days (2018: 30 days) and do not bear
interest. The Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid
within the pre-agreed credit terms.

The directors considér that the carrying amount of trade payables approximates to their fair value.
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23. Deferred tax

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the Company and movements
thereon during the current and prior reporting period.

Intangible
assets Other
acquired on Fixed temporary
acquisition assets Taxlosses differences Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
At 1 November 2017 , - - - - -
Acquisition of subsidiary (8,740) - - - (8,740)
Charge to profit ) 478 30 50 6 564
At 30 April 2018 ) (8262) = - 30 Sb 6 (8,176)
Charge to profit 1,687 - (5) (6) 1,676
At 30 April 2019 ‘ (6,575) 30 45 - (6,500)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where the Company has a legally enforceable right to do so.
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances (after offset) for financial reporting purposes:

2019 2018

£000 £000
Deferred tax assets . 75 86
Deferred tax liabilities - (6,575) (8,262)

(6,500) (8,176)

At the balance sheet date, the Company has unused tax losses carried forward of £64k (2018: £294k)
available for offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of £61k of
such losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining £3k (2018: £nil) as it is
not considered probable that there will be future taxable profits available. All losses may be carried forward
indefinitely.

24. Provisions

2019 2018

£000 £000

Dilapidations 566 566
Current . 30 30
Non-current 536 536
566 566

47



Couple Holdco Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (contmued)
For the year ended 30 April 2019

24. Provisions (continued)

Property Total

£000 £000

At 1 May 2018 S 566 566
566

At 30 April 2019 566

The provision is in respect of property dilapidation for three properties currently in use. The provision is

calculated in accordance with IAS 37 as disclosed in note 3 to the accounts.

The leases expire in the next 1 to 7 years and the remedial works or settlement costs will be negotiated

with the landlords toward these dates.

25. Share capital

Class of ordinary shares A ) B C1 Cc2
Authorised: .

Number of ordinary shares 723,540 56,670 100,000 120,000
Nominal price £0.0150 £0.0001 £0.0500 £0.0001
Issued and fully paid:

Number of ordinary shares at 1 November 2017 - - 20,000 16,497
Number of ordinary shares issued in the period 723,540 56,670 80,000 103,503
Number of ordinary shares at 30 April 2018 723,540 4 56,670 100,000 120,000
Number of ordinary shares issued in the year - - 20,000 -
Number of ordinary shares at 30 April 2018 723,540 56,670 120,000 120,000
Vaiue of ordinary shares at 30 April 2019 £10,853 £6  £6,000 £12
Value of ordinary shares at 30 April 2018 . £10,853 £6  £5,000 £12

The Company has four classes of ordinary shares that carry no right to fixed income.

Class A ordinary shares

a) Each A ordinary share, subject to certain limitations, is entitled to one vote in any circumstances
and shall confer on the holders of A ordinary shares (as a class) in arrogate of 75% of the total
number of voting rights of all Shares in issue at the relevant time (allocated pro rata among such

holders according to the number of A ordinary Shares held).

b) Each A ordinary share is subject to investor approval, entitled pari passu to any dividend payments

or any other distribution.

c) Each A ordinary share, subject to certain limitations, is entltled pari passu to participate in

distribution of capital (including from a winding-up of the Company).
d) The shares are non-redeemable. ‘
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25,

Class
a)
b)
c)

d
Class
a)

b)
c)

d)

Share capital

B ordinary shares

Each B ordinary share shall confer on each holder of B ordinary shares (in that capacity) right to
receive notice of and to attend, speak but not vote at any general meetlngs of the Company and no
right to vote on written resolutions. .

Each B ordinary share is subject to investor approval, entitled pari passu to any dividend payments
or any other distribution.’ .

Each B ordinary share, subject to certain limitations, is entitled pari passu to participate in distribution
of capital (including from a winding-up of the Company).

The shares are non-redeemable.

c1 ordinéry shares

Each C ordinary share, subject to certain limitations, is entitled to one vote in any circumstances
and shall confer on the holders of C ordinary shares (as a class) in aggregate of 25% of the total
number of voting rights of all shares in issue at the relevant time (allocated pro rata among such
holders according to the number of C1 ordinary shares held).

Each C1 Ordinary share is subjedt to investor approval, entitled pari passu to any dividend
payments or any other distribution (up to the C share percentage).

Each C1 ordinary share, subject to certain limitations, is entitled pari passu to participate in
distribution of capital (including from a winding-up of the Company).

The shares are non-redeemable.

C2 ordinary shares

a)

b)
c)

d)

Each C2 ordinary share shall confer on each holder of C2 ordinary shares (in that capacity) right to
receive notice of and to attend, speak but not vote at any general meetings of the Company and
no right to vote on written resolutions (up to the C share percentage)

Each C2 ordinary share is subject to investor approval, entitled pari passu to any dividend
payments or any other distribution

Each C2 ordinary share, subject to certain limitations, is entitled pari passu to participate in
distribution of capital (including from a winding-up of the Company)

The shares are non-redeemable.

26. Share p}emium account

‘ £000
Balance at 1 November 2017 -
Premium arising on issue of equity shares 264
Balance at 30 April 2018 264
Premium arising on issue of equity shares A 8

Balance at 30 April 2019 272
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27. Accumulated deficit

Balance at 1 November 2017
Net loss for the period

Balance at 30 April 2018
Net loss for the year

Balance at 30 April 2019

28. Notes to the cash flow statement

Loss for the year/period

Adjustments for:

Share of profit of associates

Investment revenues

Other gains and losses

Finance costs

Income tax credit ,

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets

Impairment of intangible assets

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital

(Decrease)/increase in receivables
Decreasel(increase) in payables

Cash generated by operations
Incomes taxes paid

Interest paid

Interest received

Net cash from operating activities

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and bank balances
Bank deposits

£000
(6.614)
(6.614)
(12,752)
(19,366)
6 month
period
2019 2018
£000 £000
(12,752)  (6,614)
(22) (16)
(33) (14)
27 23
12,104 5,465
(1,585) (113)
© 353 171
5,472 2,556
2,539 -
6,103 1,458
(1,618) 900
1,124 (272)
5,609 2,086
(648) (563)
(3,738) (917)
33 -
1,256 606
2019 2018
£000 £000
4,345 3,308
4,345 3,308

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three
months or less, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. The carrying amount of these assets is approximately
equal to their fair value. Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period as shown in the
consolidated cash flow statement can be reconciled to the related items in the consolidated balance sheet

position shown above.

50



Couple Holdco Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 April 2019

29. Operating lease arrangements

6 month
period
2019 2018
. £000 £000
Minimum lease payments under operating leases recognised as an expense in :
the year ) ) 499 231
At the balance sheet date, the Company had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases, which fall due as follows:
2019 2018
£000 £000
4 Restated
Within one year 503 546
In the second to fifth years inclusive 1,876 1,921
After five years . 869 1,327

3,248 3,794

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Company for certain of its office properties.
Leases are negotiated for an average term of 1-10 years and rentals are fixed for an average of 1-5 years.

The prior year comparative figures have been restated due to an error in calculation and to reflect the
actual pattern of usage of the leased property.

Liabilities recognised in respect of non-cancellable operating leases:

2019 2018
£000 £000

Lease incentives
Current 68 68
Non-current _ 145 213
213 281

Lease incentives relate to (i) pfevious rent-free periods (totalling 16 months) on the leased offices in
Slough. The annual, contractual rent after rent-free periods is £458k. The lease will expire in 7 years.

30. Retirement benefit schemes
Defined contribution schemes

The Group made contributions to one defined contribution group personal pension plan in the UK. The
contributions payable by the Group in respect of the year to these schemes are charged to the income
statement on an accruals basis. The total pension charge for the year ended 30 April 2019, which related
to defined contribution schemes, is £488k (2018: £183k. The Group does not operate any defined benef t
pensnon schemes and no accrued amounts were applicable at year end (2018: £nil).
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31. Financial instruments

Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as going
concerns while maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt (borrowings disclosed in note 20 after deducting
cash and bank balances) and equity of the Group (comprising issued capital, reserves and accumulated
deficit as disclosed in note 25, 26 and 27.)

Under the bank loan agreement, the Group is subject to financial covenants relating to net leverage. The
Group has complied with these covenants and requirements.

Gearing ratio

The gearing ratio at the year end is as follows:

2019 2018

£000 £000
Debt 119,647  111,262°
Less: Cash and cash equivalents . : ) (4,345) (3,308)
Net debt 115,302 107,954
Equity 4 : . (18,142) (6,335)
Net debt to equity ratio (6.4) (17.0)

Debt is defined as long-term borrowings as detailed in note 20.
Equity includes all capital and reserves of the Group that are managed as capital.

Significant accounting policies

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted (including the criteria for recognition, the
basis of measurement and the bases for recognition of income and expenses) for each class of financial
asset, financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in note 3.

Categories of financial instruments

2019 2018

£000 £000
Financial assets ] )
Cash . - 4,345 3,308
Contract assets (note 18) 3,030 1,556
Trade and other receivables (note 19) 5,972 5,129
Financial liabilities .
Borrowings (note 20) (119,647) (111,262)
Contract liabilities (note 21) (3,346) (3,351)
Trade and other payables (note 22) (3,205) (2,132)
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31. Financial instruments (continued)

Financial risk management objectives

The main financial risks relating to the operations of the Group are market risk, liquidity risk and credit risk.
The board of directors review and agree policies for managing each of these risks, which are summarised
below:

Market risk

The Group's activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange
rates and interest rates (see below). The Group enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments to
manage its exposure to interest rate and foreign currency risk, including:

« forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge the exchange rate risk of contracts denominated in
Euros; and

* interest rate caps to mitigate the risk of rising interest rates.

Foreign currency risk management

The Groub undertakes transactions denominated in foreign currencies; consequently exposures to
exchange rate fluctuations arise. Exchange rate exposures are managed within approved policy
parameters utilising forward foreign exchange contracts.

The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary
liabilities at the reporting date are as follows:

2019 2018

£000 £000
Euro . 1,442 949
Australian Dollars 12 21
Canadian Dollars ) 621 380
United States Dollars - (3)

1,975 1,347

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in sterling against the
relevant foreign currencies. 10% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally
to key management personnel and represents management's assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the year end for a 10% change in foreign
currency rates. A positive number below indicates an increase in profit where sterling strengthens 10%
against the relevant currency. For a 10% weakening of sterling against the relevant currency, there would
be a comparable impact on the profit and the balances below would be negative.
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31. Financial instruments (continued)

Canadian Dollar

Euro impact impact
2019 2018 2019 2018
£000 £000 £000 £000
Profit or loss
- 10% strengthening (131) (86) (48) (36)
- 10% weakening 160 105 59 45

This is mainly attributable to the exposure outstanding on cash, receivables and payables in the Group at
the balance sheet.date.

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk
as the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.

Foreign exchange forward contracts

It is the policy of the Group to enter into foreign exchange forward contracts to cover specific foreign
currency payments and receipts. These are not designated as foreign currency hedges.

Interest rate risk management

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk because entities in the Group borrow funds at both fixed and
floating interest rates. The risk is managed by the Group by maintaining an appropriate mix between fixed
and floating rate borrowings, and by the use of interest rate caps.

The Group's exposures to interest rates on financial assets and financial Iiabi'lities are detailed in the
liquidity risk management section of this note.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for both

derivatives and non-derivative instruments at the balance sheet date. For floating rate liabilities, the

analysis is prepared assuming the amount of the liability outstanding at the balance sheet date was

outstanding for the whole year. A 1% increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk

. internally to key management personnel and represents management's assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 1% higher and all other variables were held constant, the Group's profit for the
year ended 30 April 2019 would decrease by £464k (2018: decrease by £470k). This is mainly attributable
to the Group's exposure to interest rates on its bank loan.

Credit risk management

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in a_
financial loss to the Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy
counterparties as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. The Group's exposure is
continuously monitored.

Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers within the travel industry, spread across the
United Kingdom and abroad. Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the financial condition of accounts
receivable.

Apart from the largest customer, the Group does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single
counterparty or any group of counterparties having similar characteristics. The Group defined
counterparties as having similar characteristics if they are related entities.
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31. Financial instruments (continued)

Liquidity risk management

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the board of directors, which has established

an appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Group’s short, medium and

long-term funding and liquidity management requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by

maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities, by continuously

monitoring forecast and actual cash flows, and by matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and

liabilities. Details of undrawn facilities that the Group has at its disposal to further reduce the liquidity risk
are set out below.

Financing facilities

2019 2018
£000 £000
Unsecured bank loan facility
Amount used . . 50,000 50,000
Amount unused - -

50,000 50,000

Unsecured rolling credit facility
Amount used - -
Amount unused 4,000 4,000

4,000 4,000

Fair value measurements

The information set out below provides information about how the Group determines fair values of various
financial assets and financial liabilities.

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial
recognition at fair value, grouped into levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is
observable: -

Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived
from prices); and

Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the
asset or liability that are not based on observable market date (unobservable inputs).

Fair value of the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on
a recurring basis

Some of the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. The following table gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets
and financial liabilities are determined (in' particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs used).
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Financial | Fair value as | Fair Valuation technique(s) Significant Relationship

assets/ at 30 April value and key input(s) unobservable | of

financial 2019 hierarchy input(s) unobservable

liabilities inputs to fair
. . value

Foreign Assets: Level 2 Discounted cash flow. N/A N/A

currency

forward £1k Future cash flows are

-| estimated based on
forward exchange rates
£nil (from observable forward
exchange rates at the end
of the reporting period)
and contract forward
rates, discounted at a rate
that reflects the credit risk
of various counterparties.

contracts Liabilities:

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that are not measured at fair value (but fair
value disclosures are required)

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities recorded at amortised
cost in the financial statements approximate to their fair values.

32. Events after the balance sheet date

One of the Group’s customers, Thomas Cook, entered compulsory liquidation on 23 September 2019. As a
historically significant customer of the Group, these financial statements have been reviewed in respect of
this news. From this review, we confirm that the business is well positioned for growth into future and that
the unfortunate news does not affect the Group’s ability to trade as a going concern and Goodwill has not
been impaired after reassessment. .

33. Related party transaction;

Balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have
been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note.

Loan notes

Inflexion Private Equity ("Inﬂexion"),'a private equity house, has invested in the Group through the following
funds: '

£40.8 million 12% coupon IFX unsecured A loan notes maturing in May 2025.

Lloyds Development Capital (LDC) has invested in the Group through the following funds:
£17.4 million 12% coupon IFX unsecured A loan notes maturing in May 2025.

In addition to the above, the following loan notes were issues to senior management:
£4 6 million 12% coupon IFX unsecured B loan notes maturing in May 2025,
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33. Related party transactions (continued)

Interest on the loan notes accrues at a rate of 12%. The interest payable in respect of loan notes held by
Inflexion in the year is £5.0 million (2018: £2.9 million). The interest payable in respect of loan notes held

by LDC in the year is £2.2 million (2018: £0.4 million).

A loan made to a director, secured against issued shares and loan notes, was outstanding during the year.

The amount of the liability payable at year end was £50k.
Remuneration of key management personnel

The remuneration of the directors, who are the key management personnel of the Group, is set out below

in aggregate for each of the categories specified in |IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures.

2019 2018
£000 £000
Short-term employee benefits - -
Post-employee benefits - -
Other long-term benefits .- -
Termination benefits’ - -
Share-based payments - -
Aggregate directors’ remuneration
The total amounts for directors’ remuneration in accordance with Schedule 5 to the Accounting
Regulations were as follows:
Highest paid Highest paid
director director Total Total
2019 2018 2019 2018
£000 £000 £000 £000
Salaries, fees, bonuses and benefits in kind 216 113 675 264
Amounts receivable under long-term incentive schemes - - - -
Money purchase pension contributions 10 4 26 11
226 117 701 275

3 directors (2018: 3) were members of a money purchase pension scheme in the year.

34. Off-balance sheet arrangements
There are no off-balance sheet arrangements as at 30 April 2019.
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Non-current assets
Investment in subsidiaries
Interests in associates
Trade and other receivables

Current assets
Trade and other recsivables

Total assets
Current liabilities
Net current assets

Total assets lass current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings

Total liabllities
Net assets
Equity

Share capital
Share premium account

- Accumulated deficit

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

Note

37

38

38

40

25, 41
26, 41
42

2019 2018
£000 £000
4212 3,749
4,212 3,749
1,465 1,284
1,465 1,284
5,677 5,033

(8) (8)

1,457 1,276
5,669 5,025

(5.425)  (4,823)

(5.425)  (4,823)

(5433)  (4,831)

244 202
17 16
272 264
(44) an
244 202

The Company reported a profit for the financial year ended 30 April 2019 of £33k (2018: loss of £77k).

The financial statements of Couple Holdco Limiled (registered number 11042500) were approved by the
board of direclors and authorised for issue on 30 September 2018. They were signed on its behalf by:

MLWW\

Noel Kelly
Director
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Share

Share premium Accumulat-

capital account  ed deficit Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

Balance at 1 November 2017 - - - -
Loss for the period - - (77) (77)
Issue of share capital 15 264 - 279
Balance at 30 April 2018 ' 15 264 (77) 202
Profit for the year ' - - -+ 33 33
Issue of share capital 1 8 - 9
Balance at 30 April 2019 . 16 272 (44) 244
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35. Significant accounting policies

The separate financial statements of the Company are presented as required by the Companies Act 2006.
The Company meets the definition of a qualifying entity under FRS 100 ‘Application of Financial Reporting
Requirements’ issued by the FRC. Accordingly, these financial statements were prepared in accordance
with Financial Reportmg Standard 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework'.

As permitted by FRS 101 the Company has taken advantage of the disclosure exemptions available under
that standard in relation to share-based payment, financial instruments, capital management, presentation
of comparative information in respect of certain assets, presentation of a cash-flow statement, standards
not yet effective and certain related party transactions.

Where required, equivalent disclosures are given in the consolidated financial statements.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the re-measurement of
certain financial instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period. The
principal accounting policies adopted are the same as those set out in note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements except as noted below.

Investments in subsidiaries and associates are stated at cost less, where appropriate, prbvisions for
impairment.

There were no critical accounting judgements that would have a significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the parent company financial statements or key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
balance sheet date that would have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying

. amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

36. Profit for the year

As permitted by s408 of the Companies Act 2006, no separate income statement or statement of other
comprehensive income is presented in respect of the parent company. The profit attributable to the
Company is disclosed in the footnote to the Company’s balance sheet.

The auditor's remuneration for audit and other servnces is disclosed in note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Company did not have employees in the year. Employees and directors were remunerated by other
group undertakings, disclosed in aggregate in notes 9 and 33 to the consolidated financial statements.
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. 37. Investments in subsidiaries

Cost
At 1 May 2017

At 30 April 2018

At 30 April 2019

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 30 April 2019 are as follows:

Name

Couple Midco
Limited +

Céuple Bidco
Limited

ATCORE
Technology
Group Limited

ATCORE
Technology
Limited

Tiger Bay
Software Limited

ATCORE
Technology
(Australia) Pty
Limited

ATNEWCO20
Limited

Registered address

353 Buckingham
Avenue, Slough
SL1 4PF. United
Kingdom.

353 Buckingham
Avenue, Slough
SL1 4PF. United
Kingdom.

353 Buckingham
Avenue, Slough
SL1 4PF. United
Kingdom.

353 Buckingham
Avenue, Slough
SL1 4PF. United
Kingdom.

353 Buckingham
Avenue, Slough
SL1 4PF. United
Kingdom.

243 Miler Street,
North Sydney, NSW

. 2060. Australia.

353 Buckingham
Avenue, Slough
SL1 4PF. United
Kingdom.

Place of

incorporation

United
Kingdom

United
Kingdom

United
Kingdom

United
Kingdom

United
Kingdom

Australia

United
Kingdom

+ Held directly by Couple Holdco Limited.

Proportion
of ownership
of ordinary
share capital

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Proportion
of voting
power held

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Subsidiaries
£000

Principal Activity

Holding company

Holding company

Holding company

Provision of
software and
services to the
leisure travel
sector

Provision of
software and
services to the
leisure travel
sector

Provision of
software and
services to the
leisure travel
sector

Dormant company
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38. Trade and other receivables

Amounts falling due within one year:

Amounts owed by group undertakings
Other debtors

Included in current assets

Amounts falling due after more than one year:

Amounts owed by group undertakings -
Included in non-current assets

Total trade and other receivables

2019 2018
£000 £000
1415 1284

50 i
1,465 1.284
4212 3,749
4212 3,749
5,677 5,033

Amounts repayable from group undertakings are short term and carry interest of 12% per annum charged

on the outstanding loan balances.

39. Finance guarantee

The Company has provided a finance guarantee to Couple Midco Limited and Couple Bidco Limited in
respect of the debt held by subsidiary companies. Details of the borrowings are given in note 20 to the

consolidated financial statements.
40. Borrowings

Unsecured boriowing at amortised cost

Management loan notes

Amounts due for settlement between one and five years:

Management loan notes

Amounts due for settlement after five years:

Management loan notes

Details of the loan notes are given in note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

2019 2018
£000 £000
5,425 4,823
5,425 4,823
5,425 4,823
5,425 4,823
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41. Share capital and share premium account

-The movements on these items are disclosed in notes 25 and 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

42. Accumulated deficit

Ba,lance at 1 November 2017
Loss for the period

Balance at 30 April 2018
Profit for the year

Balance at 30 April 2019

43. Controlling party

The ultimate controlling party is Inflexion Buyout Fund IV (No 1) LP."

£000

(77)

(77)
33

(44)
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